ประสิทธิภาพของยาปฏิชีวนะและโพลีฟีนอลต่อเชื้อวิบริโอพาราฮิโมลัยติคัส ซึ่งแยกได้จากกุ้งขาวแปซิฟิค ระหว่างการระบาดของกลุ่มอาการตายด่วนในประเทศไทย

นายตรัน ฮือ ตินห์



CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

้บทคัดย่อและแฟ้มข้อมูลฉบับเต็มของวิทยานิพนธ์ตั้งแต่ปีการศึกษา 2554 ที่ให้บริการในคลังปัญญาจุฬาฯ (CUIR)

เป็นแฟ้มข้อมูลของนิสิตเจ้าของวิทยานิพนธ์ ที่ส่งผ่านทางบัณฑิตวิทยาลัย

The abstract and full text อริทยาษิมพุษธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งพองออรชีญราตามหลักสุขรษุริญญบริเทยาสอุศตระแนวนัญพิหะpository (CUIR)

are the thesis authors files submitted through the ยกใจราย Graduate School.

คณะสัตวแพทยศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิท[์]ยาลัย

ปีการศึกษา 2557

ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

EFFICACY OF ANTIBIOTICS AND POLYPHENOLS AGAINST *VIBRIO PARAHAEMOLYTICUS* ISOLATED FROM PACIFIC WHITE SHRIMP DURING EARLY MORTALITY SYNDROME OUTBREAK IN THAILAND

Mr. Tran Huu Tinh



A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science Program in Veterinary Pathobiology Department of Veterinary Pathology Faculty of Veterinary Science Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2014 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University

Thesis Title	EFFICACY OF ANTIBIOTICS AND POLYPHENOLS
	AGAINST VIBRIO PARAHAEMOLYTICUS ISOLATED
	FROM PACIFIC WHITE SHRIMP DURING EARLY
	MORTALITY SYNDROMEOUTBREAK IN THAILAND
Ву	Mr. Tran Huu Tinh
Field of Study	Veterinary Pathobiology
Thesis Advisor	Assistant Professor Doctor Channarong Rodkhum
Thesis Co-Advisor	Professor Doctor Varaporn Vuddhakul

Accepted by the Faculty of Veterinary Science, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Master's Degree

_____Dean of the Faculty of Veterinary Science

(Professor Doctor Roongroje Thanawongnuwech)

THESIS COMMITTEE

_____Chairman

(Associate Professor Doctor Nuvee Prapasarakul)

(Assistant Professor Doctor Channarong Rodkhum)

(Professor Doctor Varaporn Vuddhakul)

.....Examiner

(Associate Professor Doctor Aranya Ponpornpisit)

External Examiner

(Doctor Saengchan Senapin)

ตรัน ฮือ ตินห์ : ประสิทธิภาพของยาปฏิชีวนะและโพลีฟีนอลต่อเชื้อวิบริโอพาราฮิโมลัยติคัส ซึ่งแยกได้จากกุ้งขาวแปซิฟิค ระหว่างการระบาดของกลุ่มอาการตายด่วนในประเทศไทย (EFFICACY OF ANTIBIOTICS AND POLYPHENOLS AGAINST *VIBRIO PARAHAEMOLYTICUS* ISOLATED FROM PACIFIC WHITE SHRIMP DURING EARLY MORTALITY SYNDROMEOUTBREAK IN THAILAND) อ.ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์หลัก: ผศ. น.สพ. ดร. ชาญณรงค์ รอดคำ, อ.ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์ร่วม: ศ. ดร. วราภรณ์ วุฑฒะกุล, 48 หน้า.

Vibrio parahaemolyticus (VP) เป็นแบคทีเรียที่ก่อให้เกิดความเสียหายทางเศรษฐกิจ ต่ออุตสาหกรรมการผลิตกุ้งในหลายประเทศ ความพยายามที่จะใช้ยาปฏิชีวนะในการควบคุมการติด เชื้ออาจทำให้เกิดปัญหาการดื้อยาปฏิชีวนะของเชื้อแบคทีเรียขึ้นได้ การศึกษานี้มีวัตถุประสงค์เพื่อที่ จะหาความไวรับของ VP ทั้งที่ก่อโรคและไม่ก่อโรคในกุ้งต่อยาปฏิชีวนะ จำนวน 8 ชนิดและโพลีฟี-นอล (polyphenols) ซึ่งเป็นสารสกัดจากพืชที่เป็นอีกทางเลือกในการยับยั้งและทำลายเชื้อแบคทีเรีย จำนวน 4 ชนิด เชื้อ VP ในการศึกษานี้แยกได้จากกุ้งขาว (pacific white shrimp, Litopenaeus) vannamei) ที่เพาะเลี้ยงในภาคกลางและภาคใต้ของประเทศไทย จากนั้นนำมาพิสูจน์เชื้อด้วยวิธีการ ทดสอบจากลักษณะฟีโนไทป์และอณูชีววิทยา VP ไอโซเลท (isolate) ที่ก่อโรคในกุ้ง (Acute Hepatopancreatic Necrosis Disease, AHPND-VP) ได้รับการยืนยันด้วยวิธี PCR ที่มี toxin gene เป็น gene เป้าหมายความไวรับของเชื้อต่อยาปฏิชีวนะและโพลีฟีนอล ตรวจสอบโดยวิธี broth microdilution ผลของโพลีฟีนอลต่อ VP ถูกนำไปตรวจสอบต่อด้วยวิธี time-kill curve ผลการ ทดลองแสดงให้เห็นว่า VP ที่แยกได้จำนวน 96 ไอโซเลททั้งที่ก่อโรคและไม่ก่อโรคในกุ้งดื้อต่อ ampicillin และ amoxicillin ในความเข้มข้นที่สูงและในอัตราการดื้อที่สูงมาก อย่างไรก็ตาม VP ที่ แยกได้ทั้งหมดยังคงไวต่อยาปฏิชีวนะชนิดอื่นๆที่นำมาทดสอบ โพลีฟีนอลทั้งหมดที่นำมาทดสอบ แสดงประสิทธิภาพในการต่อต้านเชื้อ VP ทั้งหมดที่แยกได้ อย่างไรก็ตามเฉพาะ pyrogallol เท่านั้น ที่แสดงประสิทธิภาพสูงสุด นอกจากนี้ยังพบว่าประสิทธิภาพในการต่อต้านเชื้อ VP ของ pyrogallol ขึ้นอยู่กับเวลาและปริมาณที่ใช้ จากผลการศึกษาทั้งหมดสรุปได้ว่ายาปฏิชีวนะทุกชนิด ยกเว้น ampicillin และ amoxicillin ยังคงมีประสิทธิภาพสูงต่อเชื้อ VP ทั้งหมดที่แยกได้ทั้งที่ก่อโรคและ ไม่ ก่อโรคในกุ้ง ส่วน pyrogallol คือโพลีฟีนอลที่มีประสิทธิภาพสูงที่สุดในการต่อต้าน VP ทั้งหมดที่ แยก ้ได้ทั้งที่ก่อโรคและไม่ก่อโรคในกุ้งเมื่อเปรียบเทียบกับโพลีฟีนอลอื่นๆ จากการศึกษาในครั้งนี้

ภาควิชา	พยาธิวิทยา	ลายมือชื่อนิสิต
สาขาวิชา	พยาธิชีววิทยาทางสัตวแพทย์	ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก
ปีการศึกษา	2557	ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาร่วม

5675329931 : MAJOR VETERINARY PATHOBIOLOGY

KEYWORDS: ANTIBIOTIC RESISTANCE; EARLY MORTALITY SYNDROME, PACIFIC WHITE SHRIMP, POLYPHENOLS, VIBRIO PARAHAEMOLYTICUS

TRAN HUU TINH: EFFICACY OF ANTIBIOTICS AND POLYPHENOLS AGAINST *VIBRIO PARAHAEMOLYTICUS* ISOLATED FROM PACIFIC WHITE SHRIMP DURING EARLY MORTALITY SYNDROMEOUTBREAK IN THAILAND. ADVISOR: ASST. PROF. DR. CHANNARONG RODKHUM, CO-ADVISOR: PROF. DR. VARAPORN VUDDHAKUL, 48 pp.

Vibrio parahaemolyticus (VP) is an emerging pathogen causing vast economic losses in shrimp production. Using antibiotics to control disease may have resulted antibiotics resistance. This study aimed to investigate susceptibility of VP to 8 antibiotics, and 4 polyphenols, potential alternative against bacterial species. VP were isolated from Pacific white shrimp (Litopenaeus vannamei) in central and southern parts of Thailand, and identified by phenotypic-based and molecular-based methods. Pathogenic isolates (Acute Hepatopancreatic Necrosis Disease, AHPND-VP) were confirmed by PCR targeting toxin gene. Susceptibility to antibiotics and polyphenols was determined by broth microdilution method. Effects of polyphenols on VP was further evaluated by time-kill curve. The results showed that all VP isolates were resistant to ampicillin, and amoxicillin at high concentrations, but susceptible to 6 other antibiotics. Polyphenols demonstrated antimicrobial effects on VP isolates. However, pyrogallol exhibited outstanding activity compared to others. Further investigation proved that pyrogallol possessed time and dose dependent bactericidal activity on VP isolates. In conclusion, all tested antibiotics except ampicillin and amoxicillin have high potential against VP isolates. Additionally, pyrogallol showed highest efficacy against VP isolates among polyphenols.

Department:	Veterinary Pathology	Student's Signature
Field of Study:	Veterinary Pathobiology	Advisor's Signature
)		
Academic Year:	2014	Co-Advisor's Signature

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I want to express my sincere thanks to Assist. Prof. Dr. Channarong Rodkhum, Department of Veterinary Microbiology, Faculty of Veterinary Science, Chulalongkorn University, and Prof. Dr. Varaporn Vuddhakul, Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Science, Prince of Songkla University, for their valuable guidance and encouragement.

I am also grateful to Department of Veterinary Microbiology, Faculty of Veterinary Science, Chulalongkorn University, and Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Science, Prince of Songkla University, for providing all necessary facilities for the research.

I want to express my gratitude to examination committee, for their invaluable constructing comments in my research proposal, and final thesis.

I am indebted to my friends at Department of Veterinary Microbiology, Faculty of Veterinary Science, Chulalongkorn University, and Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Science, Prince of Songkla University, for their unconditional help.

Last but not least, I am thankful for my family, for their endless mental supports.

CONTENTS

Page
THAI ABSTRACTiv
ENGLISH ABSTRACTv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSvi
CONTENTS
LIST OF TABLESi
LIST OF FIGURES ii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS iii
CHAPTER I. INTRODUCTION
1. Importance and rationale1
2. Research questions
3. Hypothesis
4. Objectives of study
5. Conceptual framework
CHAPTER II. LITERRATURE REVIEW
1. Vibrio parahaemolyticus5
2. Acute hepatopancreatic necrosis disease6
3. Antibiotics use in aquaculture7
4. Polyphenols9
4.1. Pyrogallol
4.2. Rutin11
4.3. Syringic acid11
4.4. Vanillic acid12

Page

СНАР	ter II	I. MATERIALS AND METHODS	13
1.	Bact	erial isolation and identification	13
	1.1.	Bacterial isolation	13
	1.2.	Biochemical identification	13
	1.4.	Molecular identification	14
	1.5.	Identification of AHPND V. parahaemolyticus	15
	1.6.	Gel electrophoresis	15
	1.7.	Bacterial stock	15
2.	Susc	eptibility of V. parahaemolyticus to antibiotics and polyphenols	16
	2.1	Bacterial suspension	16
	2.2	Drug preparation	16
	2.3	Minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) assay	16
	2.4	Minimal bactericidal concentration (MBC) assay	17
3.	Time	e-kill curve of polyphenol	17
4.	Effec	t of pyrogallol on bacterial cell	18
5.	Data	analysis	18
СНАР	ter iv	/. RESULTS	19
1.	Bact	erial isolation and identification	19
2.	Susc	eptibility of <i>V. parahaemolyticus</i> to antibiotics and polyphenols	20
	2.1	Susceptibility to antibiotics	20
	2.2	Susceptibility to polyphenols	21
	2.3	Comparison of susceptibility of AHPND and non-AHPND isolates	21
3.	Time	e-kill curve of pyrogallol	27

Page	Pa	age
------	----	-----

4.	Effect of pyrogallol on bacterial cell	.29
СНАР	TER V. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	.30
1.	Discussion	.30
2.	Conclusions	.33
3.	Advantages of study	.33
REFEI	RENCES	.34
VITA.	SAULT 7.2.4	.48



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Biochemical characteristics of V. parahaemolyticus	.14
Table 2. List of antibiotics and polyphenols used in this study	.17
Table 3. Geographic origins of 96 V. parahaemolyticus isolates in this study	.20
Table 4. Percent distribution of MIC, MBC against 96 V. parahaemolyticus isolates	.23
Table 5. Percent distribution of MIC, MBC against AHPND V. parahaemolyticus	.24
Table 6. Percent distribution of MIC, MBC against non-AHPND V. parahaemolyticus	.24
Table 7. MIC ₅₀ and MIC ₉₀ of <i>V. parahaemolyticus</i> groups	.26



จุฬาลงกรณมหาวทยาลย Chulalongkorn University

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Chemical structure of pyrogallol1	0
Figure 2. Chemical structure of rutin1	. 1
Figure 3. Chemical structure of syringic acid1	. 1
Figure 4. Chemical structure of vanillic acid1	.2
Figure 5. Colony morphology of V. parahaemolyticus on 1% NaCl TSA1	.9
Figure 6. Biochemical identification of V. parahaemolyticus1	.9
Figure 8. Gel electrophoresis of products of AP3 primers1	.9
Figure 7. Gel electrophoresis of products of toxR primers1	.9
Figure 9. Time-kill curve of pyrogallol against AHPND <i>V. parahaemolyticus</i> 2	28
Figure 10. Time-kill curve of pyrogallol against non-AHPND V. parahaemolyticus2	28
Figure 11. Scanning electron micrographs of <i>V. parahaemolyticus</i> 2	29

ii

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AHPND	Acute hepatopancreatic necrosis disease
CIT	Citrate test
EMS	Early mortality syndrome
MBC	Minimal bactericidal concentration
МНВ	Mueller-Hinton broth
MIC	Minimal inhibitory concentration
МОТ	Motility test
PBS	Phosphate buffer saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
RPM	Round per minute
ТВЕ	Tris-borate-EDTA
TCBS	Thiosulfate-citrate-bile salts-sucrose
TSA	Tryptic soy agar
TSB	Tryptic soy broth
VP	Voges–Proskauer test
WFS	White feces syndrome

CHAPTER I. INTRODUCTION

1. Importance and rationale

Vibrio parahaemolyticus is an important marine fish and shellfish pathogen. This bacteria can cause disease in human via two routes, ingestion of contaminated seafood or direct contact with open wound which rarely lead to death in some cases (Roland, 1970; Barker and Gangarosa, 1974; Bisha et al., 2012). It naturally inhabits in sediment, water, and aquatic organisms (Kaneko and Colwell, 1973). Recently, a new highly pathogenic strain of *V. parahaemolyticus* was identified as the causative agent of acute hepatopancreatic necrosis disease (AHPND) in shrimp culture (Tran et al., 2013). This emerging disease has caused great economic losses in many countries, especially in Asia (Flegel, 2012). In addition, it can cause secondary infections in white feces syndrome (WFS), and subsequently increase mortality of culture shrimp (Flegel, 2012; Sriurairatana et al., 2014).

Traditionally, antibiotics such as oxytetracycline and norfloxacin are applied when bacterial infections in fish and shellfish occur (Shaw et al., 2014). However, using antibiotics in aquaculture is no longer recommended due to a number of reasons. The application of antibiotics would not only destabilize microbiota, it has also proven ineffective in treating fish and shellfish infected with *Vibrio* spp. such as *V. harveyi* and closely related bacteria including *V. parahaemolyticus* (De Schryver et al., 2014). Using antibiotics to control bacterial infection in aquatic animals has created selective pressure for the development of resistant strains of *Pseudomonas* sp., *Escherichia coli, Enterococcus* spp., *Vibrio* spp. (Le et al., 2005; Di Cesare et al., 2013). In the emerging AHPND *V. parahaemolyticus* strains, antimicrobial resistance was also detected (Kongrueng et al., 2014). In addition, horizontal transfer of resistance genes among bacterial species can make the problem even more complicated (Gao et al., 2012; Shah et al., 2014). Moreover, the presence of antibiotic residues in environment and

aquaculture products is an important threat to public health (Zong et al., 2010; He et al., 2012). Therefore, new tactics for controlling bacterial infections in aquaculture are urgently needed in order to make the industry more sustainable (De Schryver et al., 2014).

For the control of bacterial diseases in aquaculture, a number of alternatives to antibiotics have been proposed. Multidisciplinary strategies include improvement of health of host, optimization of water quality, and killing or inhibiting pathogens by phage therapies or natural products (Defoirdt et al., 2011). Polyphenols are plantderived products that are commonly found in fruits, vegetables, and plant-derived beverages (Daglia, 2012). These products are well-known for their antioxidant properties due to the ability to scavenge free radicals (Bravo, 1998). In addition, many polyphenols have been proved to have bactericidal effects to both Gram-negative, and Gram-positive bacterial species, including a few human pathogenic V. parahaemolyticus strains (Nagayama et al., 2002; Taguri et al., 2004). Because of their wide bacterial spectrum polyphenols can be potential alternatives to antibiotics in controlling V. parahaemolyticus in Pacific white shrimp. Recently, it has been demonstrated that the susceptibility to antibiotics of AHPND V. parahaemolyticus strains was slightly different from that of non-AHPND strains (Kongrueng et al., 2014). Therefore, scientific evidence showing the efficacy of polyphenols against both AHPND and non-AHPND V. parahaemolyticus is needed to evaluate the potential of polyphenols in controlling vibriosis in shrimp farms.

2. Research questions

- What are antibiotic resistance patterns of *V. parahaemolyticus* isolates from central and southern provinces of Thailand?

- Do polyphenols have high efficacy against both AHPND and non-AHPND V. parahaemolyticus?

- Are there any differences in resistance patterns of AHPND and non-AHPND *V. parahaemolyticus* isolates?

3. Hypothesis

We hypothesized that *V. parahaemolyticus* recovered from Pacific white shrimps in eastern and southern parts of Thailand resisted many commonly used antibiotics at high levels. Besides, resistance pattern of AHPND and non-AHPND isolates are different from each other. Some polyphenols have high bactericidal activities against both AHPND and non-AHPND *V. parahaemolyticus* isolates *in vitro*.

4. Objectives of study

This study aimed to evaluate antimicrobial susceptibility of *V. parahaemolyticus* isolated from Pacific white shrimps in eastern and southern parts of Thailand, and investigate *in vitro* anti-bacterial activities of four polyphenol products against both AHPND and non-AHPND *V. parahaemolyticus*.

Chulalongkorn University



CHAPTER II. LITERRATURE REVIEW

1. Vibrio parahaemolyticus

Vibrio parahaemolyticus is a halophilic, Gram-negative bacterial species. It is motile, facultatively anaerobic, able to grow at 43°C, and failed to grow in 10% NaCl (Barker and Gangarosa, 1974). It was first isolated in 1953 in Japan from patient with food poisoning (Zen-Yoji et al., 1965). After its initial identification, this bacterial pathogen later on was also reported to cause food-related infection in other many countries such as USA, England, Thailand, and Philippines (Molenda et al., 1972; Peffers et al., 1973; Sanyal et al., 1973). Infected patients exhibited diarrhea, abdominal pain, nausea, vomiting, headache, fever, chill, acute gastroenteritis (Zen-Yoji et al., 1965; Barker and Gangarosa, 1974). Besides, *V. parahaemolyticus* can infect people with open wound in contact with contaminated water (Roland, 1970). Human pathogenic strains are non-hemolytic (Miyamoto et al., 1969; Barker and Gangarosa, 1974). There are two distinct hemolysins in *V. parahaemolyticus*, thermostable direct hemolysin (TDH) and TDH-related hemolysin (TRH) (Sakurai et al., 1974).

V. parahaemolyticus is sensitive to cold, low salinity condition (Kampelmacher et al., 1970). Therefore, incidence of this pathogen is correlated with water temperature. It can be found in sediment, where water temperature is stable, more frequently than in water (Baross and Liston, 1970). Besides, the occurrence of *V. parahaemolyticus* is higher in summer than in winter (Kaneko and Colwell, 1973). The temperature range of 14-19°C was found to be critical in the annual cycles of *Vibrio* (Kaneko and Colwell, 1973). Samples collected from lagoons contained more *V. parahaemolyticus* than those from ocean (Bockemuhl and Triemer, 1974). Among three major human pathogenic *Vibrio* species, occurrence of *V. parahaemolyticus* in sea food product was highest (31.1% of samples) followed by *V. vulnificus* (12.6%) and *V. cholerae* (0.6%) (Robert-Pillot et al., 2014). *V. parahaemolyticus* was detected in effluents of wastewater (Khouadja et al., 2014).

2. Acute hepatopancreatic necrosis disease

Acute hepatopancreatic necrosis disease (AHPND), also referred to as early mortality syndrome (EMS) is the most recent, serious bacterial infection to cause great economic losses in shrimp cultivation of Asian countries (Sriurairatana et al., 2014). This disease first occurred in China in 2009 and then was reported in many other countries including Vietnam (2010), Malaysia (2011), Thailand (2012), and Mexico (2013) (Nunan et al., 2014; Sriurairatana et al., 2014). Economic loss for Vietnam in 2010 alone would exceed USD 75 million (Flegel, 2012). Within 5 months of 2013, estimated reduction of shrimp export in Thailand was approximately 34% (Kongrueng et al., 2013). Estimated losses to the Asian shrimp culture sector amount to USD 1 billion (De Schryver et al., 2014). Not until 2013, the causative agent of AHPND was identified to be *V. parahaemolyticus* (Tran et al., 2013).

AHPND could affect both Pacific white shrimp (*Penaeus vannamei*) and black tiger shrimp (*Penaeus monodon*) within the first 35 days of stocking (Tran et al., 2013; Joshi et al., 2014). It is uniquely characterized with massive, medial sloughing of shrimp hepatopancreatic cells caused by a presently unidentified toxin(s) of the pathogenic bacteria in digestive system of shrimp (Sriurairatana et al., 2014). AHPND can lead to secondary bacterial infections, or be accompanied by white feces syndrome (WFS), and increase the mortality (Flegel, 2012; Sriurairatana et al., 2014). When disease occurs, the mortality of culture shrimp is up to 100% in most cases (De Schryver et al., 2014).

A number of studies on genetics of AHPND-causing *V. parahaemolyticus* have been conducted to better understand mechanisms rendering high pathogenicity of this pathogen. Four plasmids were detected in pandemic strain, including one large extrachromosomal plasmid that encodes a homolog to the insecticidal *Photorhabdus* insect-related binary toxin PirAB (Gomez-Gil et al., 2014; Yang et al., 2014). Many of the genes in AHPND-causing strain are phage-related, and/or have not been previously reported, while these genes were not detected in non-pandemic strain (Gomez-Jimenez et al., 2014; Kondo et al., 2014). These fragments encode type IV pilus/type IV secretion system, homologues of cholera toxin and conjugal transfer proteins, which suggests that it is located on a plasmid (Kondo et al., 2014; Yang et al., 2014). Besides, these strains also possessed several pathogenicity mechanisms including five iron acquisition and seven secretion systems (Gomez-Gil et al., 2014).

3. Antibiotics use in aquaculture

Antibiotic used in shrimp farming is a major problem because it causes negative impact on human health through contact dermatitis or development of resistant human pathogens (Gräslund and Bengtsson, 2001; Holmström et al., 2003). Antibiotics such as erythromycin (macrolide class), which inhibits protein synthesis, is effective against Gram-positive and some Gram-negative bacteria, and is often used in shrimp hatcheries in south-east Asia (Gräslund and Bengtsson, 2001). Interestingly, antibiotics such as rifampicin, chloramphenicol, furazolidone and nifurpirinol, some of which were prohibited for usage in food animals in European Union due to their potential carcinogenicity, but were extensively used in the Philippines (Primavera et al., 1993). Among antibiotics, oxytetracycline (tetracyclines group) is probably the most used antibiotic in aquaculture (Gräslund and Bengtsson, 2001). A wide-range survey on the application of chemicals in aquaculture in Asian countries including Bangladesh, China, Thailand, and Vietnam reported the use of at least 20 antibiotics (Rico et al., 2013). For treating vibriosis, a number of different groups of antibiotics, including tetracyclines, fluoroquinolones, cephalosporins, and aminoglycosides can be effective (Shaw et al., 2014). Antibiotics were also used not for treatment of bacterial infection, but as prophylactic agents, which can be a source of antibiotic resistance in human bacterial pathogens (Cabello, 2006). However, the current information on the use of chemicals and biological products applied by Asian farmers is very limited (Rico et al., 2013).

In Thailand, oxolinic acid, norfloxacin, and sulfadiazine (sulfonamides group) potentiated with trimethoprim were antibiotics often used in shrimp farming (Gräslund and Bengtsson, 2001). About 74% interviewed farmers in a study used antibiotics in tetracyclines (tetracycline and oxytetracycline), quinolones (oxolinic acid, norfloxacin, enrofloxacin, ciprofloxacin) and sulphonamides (sulphamethazine) groups in shrimp pond management (Holmström et al., 2003). Chloramphenicol and gentamycin were sometimes applied (Holmström et al., 2003). A study detecting contamination of antibiotics in aquatic environment in Thailand showed that contamination of norfloxacin was highest among fluoroquinolones group (Takasu et al., 2011). A survey conducted recently demonstrated a decline in the use of antibiotics in shrimp culture in Thailand. In this study, about 2.9% Thai shrimp farmers informed that they applied amoxicillin and norfloxacin antibiotics for treatment of disease (Rico et al., 2013).

Introduction of antibiotics to aquatic environment creates selective pressure which could promote the development of resistant bacteria. Resistance to guinolones and tetracyclines groups by Aeromonas spp. and Vibrio spp. isolated from shrimp culture in Asian countries were demonstrated (Defoirdt et al., 2011). Recently, E. coli of aquatic origin showed resistance to ampicillin, tetracycline, and sulphamethoxazole/trimethoprim (Rocha Rdos et al., 2014). With regards to V. parahaemolyticus, phenotypic resistance against ampicillin and polymycin B was detected before the heavy use of antibiotics (Chatterjee et al., 1970; Roland, 1970). In a recent research on V. parahaemolyticus isolates from oysters, low susceptibility was detected only to ampicillin (81%; MIC > 16 μ g/ml) (Han et al., 2007). Later on, high percentage of resistance of V. parahaemolyticus to ampicillin (90%), and amikacin (60%) was reported. Besides, resistance to both antibiotics was 50%, and there was increased intermediate resistance to ciprofloxacin (de Melo et al., 2011). Environmental bacterial samples demonstrated susceptibility to antibiotics recommended for treating Vibrio infections, but showed intermediate resistance to chloramphenicol (96% of V. parahaemolyticus) and penicillin (68%) (Shaw et al., 2014). Resistance to ampicillin,

tetracycline, doxycycline, and nalidixic acid was recently encountered in *V. parahaemolyticus* isolates from shrimps in Malaysia (Banerjee et al., 2012; Hua and Apun, 2013).

4. Polyphenols

Polyphenols make up one of the most numerous and widely distributed groups of substances, with more than 8000 phenolic structures currently known in the plant kingdom (Bravo, 1998). These compounds are secondary metabolites, and are produced in response to stress (Citarasu, 2012). They act as antioxidants by scavenging reactive oxygen species (ROS), which produce oxidative stress and can adversely affect many cellular processes (Itoh et al., 2009). In addition, polyphenols serve as a defense against attack by microorganisms (Citarasu, 2012). Their protection against bacteria is a result initially of antioxidant, the ability to scavenge free radicals and chelate metals, and different enzymes inhibition, interaction with signal transduction pathways and cell receptors (Daglia, 2012).

Antimicrobial effect of polyphenols has long been reported. These plant extracts demonstrated effects against *Shigella*, *Streptococcus mutans*, *V. cholerae* O1, and *Helicobacter pylori* (Batista et al., 1994; Vijaya et al., 1995; Borris, 1996; Yoshida et al., 2000). A research on 10 polyphenols against 4 different bacterial genera including *Staphylococcus*, *Escherichia*, *Salmonella*, and *Vibrio* showed that there was no clear correlation between Gram-staining and bacterial susceptibility to polyphenols (Taguri et al., 2006). However, another research demonstrated greater antimicrobial effect of these plant extracts to Gram-positive bacteria (*Bacillus cereus*, *Listeria monocytogenes*, *Staphylococcus aureus*) than to Gram-negative bacteria (*Escherichia coli, and Salmonella anatum*) (Shan et al., 2007). Investigation of antimicrobial effect of 18 plant species against *V. parahaemolyticus* showed promising results (Yano et al., 2006). Recent researches with aquatic bacteria also demonstrated antimicrobial effect of polyphenols. Polyphenols showed antimicrobial action against piscine *Aeromonas* salmonicida, Aeromonas hydrophila and Edwardsiella tarda, and when two polyphenols were mixed together, the mixture demonstrated synergistic effect *in vitro* (Prasad et al., 2014). Polyphenols extracted from Thai medicinal plant have been proven to have bactericidal effects against *Streptococcal* bacteria isolated from tilapia (Pirarat et al., 2013).

Mechanisms of antibacterial activities of polyphenols are not clear; however, it is hypothesized that polyphenols physically kill bacteria by absorbing to bacterial cell wall, or generating hydrogen peroxide (Taguri et al., 2006). Polyphenols possessing the ability to form soluble polyphenol-protein complexes, may adhere to bacterial cell wall and disturb external receptor (Perumal Samy and Gopalakrishnakone, 2010). Polyphenols may lyse cell wall, block protein synthesis and DNA synthesis, and inhibit enzyme secretions (Campos et al., 2009; Citarasu, 2012). Their antibacterial activities are also attributed to the ability of microbial virulence factor suppression and synergistic effects with antibiotics (Daglia, 2012). Some polyphenols showed quorumsensing inhibitory activity which renders the inability of expression of bacterial virulence factors (Defoirdt et al., 2013; De Schryver et al., 2014).

4.1. Pyrogallol

Pyrogallol is an organic compound with the formula $C_6H_3(OH)_3$. It can be found in citrus plant, mango (Karimi et al., 2012; Cheema and Sommerhalter, 2015). Crude extract of bitter orange bloom containing pyrogallol demonstrated anti-inflammatory and anti-cancer activities in *in vitro* experiments with cell line (Karimi et al., 2012). *In vivo* studies showed that this substance protected brine



Figure 1. Chemical structure of pyrogallol

shrimp and river prawn against pathogenic *V. harveyi* due to its apparent quorum sensing inhibitory ability (Defoirdt et al., 2013). Among many different polyphenols

extracted from mango, pyrogallol showed highest polyphenol oxidase activities which involves in wound healing, pathogen defense (Cheema and Sommerhalter, 2015).

4.2. Rutin

inflammatory

Rutin is the most abundant phenolic compounds extracted from apple

(Fratianni et al., 2011). Apple extract containing rutin showed *in vitro* antimicrobial activity against both Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria. Rutin can also be found in citrus plant, mango (Karimi et al., 2012; Cheema and Sommerhalter, 2015). Its anti-

anti-cancer

and



Figure 2. Chemical structure of rutin

demonstrated in cell line experiments (Karimi et al., 2012). Olive leaves extract containing rutin reduced microbial load in peeled un-deveined shrimp (Ahmed et al., 2014). In experimental challenge with *Aeromonas hydrophila*, tilapia previously injected with extract containing rutin showed significantly higher survival rate than control group injected with phosphate buffered saline (Wu et al., 2010). *In vivo* experiments with Pacific white shrimp, crude extract containing rutin, and rutin alone significantly increased the immune ability and resistance of the host against *V. alginolyticus* (Hsieh et al., 2008; Hsieh et al., 2013).

activities were

4.3. Syringic acid

Syringic acid is a phenolic acid, having basic structure of C_6C_1 (Bravo, 1998). It can be extracted from palm, avocado, grape, and mushroom (Gálvez et al., 1994;

Pacheco-Palencia et al., 2008; Itoh et al., 2009; Oboh et al., 2014). Syringic acid extracted from mushroom showed hepatoprotective effect, decreased cytokine levels, immune-mediated liver inflammation by free radical-scavenging activities in mice challenge model (Itoh et al., 2009). This



Figure 3. Chemical structure of syringic acid

phenolic acid is among many other acids in extracts of apple, which possesses in vitro antimicrobial activity against Bacillus cereus, and Escherichia coli, but not Staphylococcus aureus (Fratianni et al., 2011). This activity is explained by its ability to inhibit quorum sensing (Fratianni et al., 2011; Kalinowska et al., 2014). Syringic acid can be found in myrtle, a medicinal plant endemic to the Mediterranean area (Aleksic and Knezevic, 2014). Extracts of this plant exerted antibacterial effect on some pathogenic bacteria, particularly *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Vibrio cholerae*.

4.4. Vanillic acid

Vanillic acid is a phenolic acid that possesses similar chemical structure, and

can be found in the same source of plants as syringic acid (Gálvez et al., 1994; Pacheco-Palencia et al., 2008; Itoh et al., 2009; Oboh et al., 2014). However, its chemical structure has less hydroxyl groups which can cause the difference in antimicrobial spectrum (Taguri



et al., 2006). In vivo experiments also proved that this phenolic acid has hepatoprotective effect (Itoh et al., 2009). Extracts of mushroom containing vanillic acid demonstrated bactericidal effect against pathogenic bacteria such as Micrococcus luteus, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, especially Gram-positive

species (Nowacka et al., 2014).

Figure 4. Chemical structure of vanillic acid

CHAPTER III. MATERIALS AND METHODS

1. Bacterial isolation and identification

1.1. Bacterial isolation

A number of 5-10 live shrimp samples were collected from each pond of different shrimp farms in the eastern and southern parts of Thailand where AHPND had been reported. Shrimp samples were kept in aerated plastic bags filled with pond water, and transported to the laboratory of Department of Veterinary Microbiology, Faculty of Veterinary Science, Chulalongkorn University where they were dissected to separate intestine and hepatopancreas. Shrimp samples were immersed in ice water for stunning, and externally sterilized with 70% ethanol. Bacterial samples were taken from intestine and hepatopancreas using sterile loop, and streaked on thiosulfate-citrate-bile salts-sucrose (TBCS) agar (DifcoTM, USA), a selective medium routinely used for isolation of *Vibrio* species. After the incubation period of 24 hours at room temperature (30°C), non-sucrose fermenting colonies presumptively considered as *V. parahaemolyticus* were selected. Three colonies from each plate were subculture on tryptic soy agar (TSA) (DifcoTM, USA) supplemented with 1% sodium chloride (NaCl) for further identification.

1.2. Biochemical identification

The bacterial isolates were subjected to Gram staining, oxidase, catalase, and motility tests. Confirmation using biochemical tests including arginine dihydrolase, lysine decarboxylase, ornithine decarboxylase, citrate, D-glucosamine utilization, Voges-Prokauer, and growth in 8% NaCl (Alsina and Blanch, 1994) were performed. This scheme had been proven to be more reliable than commercially available test kits API 20E and API 20NE (Croci et al., 2007). A summary of biochemical characteristics of *V. parahaemolyticus* is shown in Table 1.

1.3. DNA extraction

Genomic DNA was extracted by boiling as previously described with some modifications (Croci et al., 2007). Isolates were grown in tubes containing tryptic soy broth (TSB) (DifcoTM, USA) supplemented with 1% NaCl for 24 hours at 30°C. One milliliter of bacterial culture were centrifuged for 3 minutes. The pellet were suspended in 200µl pure water, and boiled at 100°C for 10 minutes. Another centrifugation was performed at 9,000 RPM for 5 minutes to obtain the supernatant. The supernatant was diluted with distilled water at the ratio of 1:10, and stored at -20° C until use.

Table 1. Biochemical characteristics of V. parahaemolyticus

Gram	Oxidase	Catalase	Motile	ADH	LDC	ODC	Citrate	D-glucosamine	VP	8% NaCl
-	+	+	+	// <u>B</u>	+	+	+	+	-	+

1.4. Molecular identification

Bacteria isolates were confirmed as *V. parahaemolyticus* by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) targeting the species-specific *toxR* gene using the following nucleotide sequences 5'-GTCTTCTGACGCAATCGTTG-3' and 5'-ATACGAGTGGTTGCTGTCATG-3' (Kim et al., 1999). PCR was performed in 25µl mixture containing 2µl of previously extracted DNA templates, 2µl of each primer, 6.5µl of pure water, and 12.5µl of MasterMix (Promega, USA). The temperature condition included 5 minutes of denaturation at 94°C, followed by 20 cycles of 1 min at 94°C, 1.5 min at 63°C, and 1.5 min at 72°C, and 5 min of final extension at 72°C. *V. parahaemolyticus* DMST21243 was used as positive control of the experiment. The reactions were performed in thermal cycler (Life Express, China). PCR products were visualized in gel electrophoresis which is described later on in this document. Products showing DNA band of approximately 368 bp were positive for *V. parahaemolyticus*.

1.5. Identification of AHPND V. parahaemolyticus

In order to identify AHPND V. parahaemolyticus (V. parahaemolyticus believed to cause AHPDN), PCR procedure using AP3 primer pair was performed (Sirikharin et al., 2014). The primer pair, 5'-ATGAGTAACAATATAAAACATGAAAC-3' and 5'-GTGGTAATAGATTGTACAGAA-3' targets to the toxin-encoding nucleotide sequence of AHPND V. parahaemolyticus. The 25µl reaction mixture contained 12.5µl of MasterMix, 6.5µl of DNase-free water, 2µl of DNA template, and 2µl of each primer. The thermal protocol included 5 min of denaturation at 94°C, thirty cycles of 94°C for 30 sec, 53°c for 30 sec, and 72°C for 40 sec, and 5 min of final extension at 72°C. DNA template of AHPND V. parahaemolyticus isolate obtained from Center of Excellence for Shrimp Molecular Biology and Biotechnology (Centex Shrimp, Bangkok, Thailand) was used as positive control.

1.6. Gel electrophoresis

Agarose gel mixed with redsafe (iNtRON Biotechnology, Korea) was prepared at concentration of 1%, in 0.5X tris-borate-EDTA (TBE) buffer. Two microliters of PCR products were loaded in gel electrophoresis for 30 min. One microliter of DNA ladder (Promega, USA) was run parallel as molecular weight marker. The gel was visualized under UV transilluminator (Syngene, USA).

1.7. Bacterial stock

V. parahaemolyticus were grown overnight in TSB supplemented with 3% NaCl at room temperature. The culture was mixed with glycerol to final concentration of 20% of the total volume, and kept at -80°C as bacterial stock culture. Sixty-six isolates of *V. parahaemolyticus* (including 47 AHPND, and 19 non-AHPND strains) were obtained from culture collection of the Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Science, Prince of Songkla University, Thailand. These isolates had been isolated from shrimp farms in southern part of Thailand during outbreak of AHPND (or early mortality syndrome), and already identified by molecular methods (Kongrueng et al., 2014).

2. Susceptibility of *V. parahaemolyticus* to antibiotics and polyphenols

Susceptibility to 8 antibiotics and 4 polyphenols (Table 2) of 56 AHPND and 40 non-AHPND *V. parahaemolyticus* isolates were evaluated using minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) and minimal bactericidal concentration (MBC) assays (CLSI, 2006b). All antibiotics, except for florfenicol, were allowed for use in aquaculture by Department of Fisheries in Thailand.

2.1 Bacterial suspension

V. parahaemolyticus isolates were culture overnight at 30° C on TSA supplemented with 1% NaCl. Suspension of pure colonies in normal saline (0.85% NaCl) was adjusted to 0.5 McFarland standard corresponding to 10^{8} CFU/ml. The standardized suspension was then 1:100 diluted with 2x Mueller Hinton Broth (MHB) (DifcoTM, USA) supplemented with 2% NaCl to obtain the working concentration of 10^{6} CFU/ml, since *V. parahaemolyticus* is an obligate halophilic strain.

2.2 Drug preparation

Eight antibiotics and four polyphenols were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Company (St. Louis, MO, USA). Stock solution of antibiotics and polyphenols were prepared with the appropriate solvents and diluents (Table 2). Two-fold dilution was performed to obtain the highest concentration of 1024 μ g/ml and the lowest concentration of 0.125 μ g/ml. Stock solutions were stored in -20°C until used.

2.3 Minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) assay

A volume of 100 μ l of bacterial suspension was loaded to each well of the 96well plate. The same volume of antimicrobial agents of each concentration were orderly loaded to the well after that. The negative growth control well contained only 200 μ l of NaCl-supplemented MHB, while the positive growth control well was filled with 100 μ l of bacterial suspension and 100 μ l of corresponding diluent. *Escherichia coli* ATCC 25922 strain was used as quality control. After 1-day incubation at 28 ± 2°C, the lowest concentration showing no visible bacterial growth was interpreted as minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC). *Escherichia coli* ATCC 25922 strain was tested in parallel for quality control. Each experiment was performed in duplicate.

Types	Names	Solvents	Diluents
	Ampicillin	Phosphate buffer, pH 8.0, 0.1 mol/l	Phosphate buffer,
	Amoxicillin	Phosphate buffer, pH 6.0, 0.1 mol/l	pH 6.0, 0.1 mol/l
	Oxolinic acid	½ volume of water, then 1 mol/l NaOH drop-	
ics	Enrofloxacin	wise to dissolve	
cibiot	Oxytetracycline	100% methanol	
Ant	Florfenicol	95% ethanol	
	Trimethoprim/	- 0.05 mol/l hydrochloric acid, 10% final volume	Mator
	Sulfamethoxazole	- ½ volume of water, minimal amount of 2.5	Water
	(1:19)	mol/l NaOH to dissolve	
lyphenols	Pyrogallol (98%)	Water	
	Syringic acid (95%)	Water	
	Vanillic acid (97%)	Water	
Pc	Rutin (94%)	DMSO 10%	DMSO 10%

Table 2. List of antibiotics and polyphenols used in this study

2.4 Minimal bactericidal concentration (MBC) assay

To determine MBC, a loopful from each MIC assay well, showing no visible bacterial growth, was streaked on NaCl-supplemented TSA, and incubated for another 24 hours at 30°C. The lowest concentration of antimicrobial agents that did not allow any bacterial growth was interpreted as MBC. Each experiment was done in duplicate.

3. Time-kill curve of polyphenol

The bactericidal activity of the most potential polyphenol was investigated, following a previously described (Punam, 2007). Briefly, one AHPND and one non-AHPND *V. parahaemolyticus* isolates that were inhibited at MIC₉₀ of the polyphenol were selected for this experiment. The bacterial suspension of these two isolates were prepared as described above to obtain the concentration of 10⁶CFU/ml.

Stock solution of the polyphenol was diluted with appropriate diluent to 4x, 2x, and 1x of MIC₉₀. Equal volumes (5 ml) of bacterial suspension and polyphenol at each dilution were mixed together in sterile experimental tube. The control tube was prepared by mixing equal volumes of bacterial suspension and corresponding diluent of the polyphenol. At 0h after mixing, 100μ l of mixture from each tube was serially 10-fold diluted with normal saline. From each of these dilutions, 100μ l was spread on TSA supplemented with 1% NaCl, and incubated overnight to determine the number of viable cells. The remaining mixtures were incubated at $28 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C with shaking at 180rpm. Colonies enumeration was continued at 2, 4, 6, 8, 12, 16, and 24h after that. These experiments were done in duplicate.

4. Effect of pyrogallol on bacterial cell

The effect of pyrogallol on bacterial cell wall of *V. parahaemolyticus* was investigated by scanning electron microscope, following previous report (Kawai and Yamagishi, 2009). One AHPND *V. parahaemolyticus* isolate was prepared as in time-kill experiment, and then exposed to pyrogallol at 4x MIC (512 μ g/ml) for 6 hours, the duration at which a 3 \log_{10} reduction of viable cells was observed. In control culture, the isolate was exposed to normal saline, instead of pyrogallol in the same duration.

After 6 hours, cells were harvested by centrifugation at 13,000 rpm for 20 minutes. Cell pellets were washed with PBS three times to eliminate residue of pyrogallol. Pyrogallol-treated and control cell pellets were kept separately in PBS and sent for photographing with scanning electron microscope.

5. Data analysis

MIC, and MBC were analyzed by descriptive analysis using basic functions in Microsoft Office Excel. Time-kill curve data were analyzed by plotting log_{10} CFU/mL versus time. A reduction of 3 log_{10} CFU/ml of the original inoculum was considered as bactericidal. MIC₅₀ and MIC₉₀ of antimicrobial agents were determined by using WHONET software (http://www.who.int/drugresistance/whonetsoftware/).

CHAPTER IV. RESULTS

1. Bacterial isolation and identification

From October-2013 to August-2014, shrimp samples were collected totally 5 times in 3 provinces of Thailand, including Chanthaburi (2), Nakhonpathom (1), and Ratchaburi (2) where mass mortality of culture white leg shrimps was reported. From primary bacterial cultures on TCBS, a number of 49 isolates were suspected to be *V. parahaemolyticus*, and were subculture (Figure 5) for further identification. The results of biochemical tests (Figure 6) and PCR with species-specific *toxR* primers (Figure 7) confirmed that 30 isolates were *V. parahaemolyticus*.



Figure 6. Colony morphology of V. parahaemolyticus on 1% NaCl TSA

	the last	A Z	TE	m =		4	IA TILL		-		-	- State
		TIME A	NILE -	-			anna a	ili i				1
/	0%	3%	6%	8%	10%	JE	2	Ę	ODC	LDC	ADH	Ctrl
4	lecco	Sal	inity tes	sts		СІТ	мот	VP	De	ecarboxy	/lase tes	sts

Figure 5. Biochemical identification of V. parahaemolyticus

Second PCR procedure confirmed that only 9 out of 30 *V. parahaemolyticus* isolates recovered from central provinces contained toxin gene (positive with AP3 primers) (Figure 8). These isolates were called AHPND isolates, while AP3-negative isolates were designated as non-AHPND *V. parahaemolyticus*. The number of AHPND *V. parahaemolyticus* isolated from Chanthaburi, Nakhonpathom, and Ratchaburi was





Figure 8. Gel electrophoresis of products of toxR primers Lane M: DNA marker, Lanes 1-7: representative samples Lane (--): Negative-control, Lane (+): Positive-control

Figure 7. Gel electrophoresis of products of AP3 primers Lane M: DNA marker, Lanes 1-7: representative samples Lane (--): Negative-control, Lane (+): Positive-control

2, 3, and 4 isolates, respectively. Noticeably, AHPND isolates were found in all provinces where shrimp samples were collected.

The other 66 isolates of *V. parahaemolyticus*, obtained from culture collection of Faculty of Science, Prince of Songkla University, were isolated from shrimp farms in Pattani and Songkhla provinces, southern part of Thailand, during outbreak of AHPND in this area (Kongrueng et al., 2014). Forty-seven isolates of which were AP3-positive. A summary of number of isolates and their geographic origins is illustrated in Table 3.

	- ,		
Geographic origins	AHPND	Non-AHPND	Total
Central provinces	9	21	30
Southern provinces	47	19	66
Total	56	40	96

Table 3. Geographic origins of 96 V. parahaemolyticus isolates in this study

2. Susceptibility of *V. parahaemolyticus* to antibiotics and polyphenols

2.1 Susceptibility to antibiotics

MIC of the quality control strain *E. coli* ATCC 25922 to antibiotics were in the acceptable ranges (Appendix 1). Currently, there is no recommended interpretive criteria (resistant, intermediate, or susceptible breakpoints) of antimicrobial agents for aquatic pathogens, therefore MIC and MBC for *V. parahaemolyticus* isolates were reported directly (CLSI, 2006b). Percent of *V. parahaemolyticus* isolates that were susceptible to each MIC, MBC of 8 antibiotics and 4 polyphenols was summarized in Table 4. Among 8 antibiotics, ampicillin and amoxicillin were most resisted by *V. parahaemolyticus*. MICs and MBCs of these two agents were \geq 32 µg/ml for all isolates.

Other antibiotics including florfenicol, oxytetracycline, oxolinic acid, and enrofloxacin showed high antimicrobial effects on *V. parahaemolyticus*. MICs and MBCs of these antimicrobial agents against 100% of the isolates were $\leq 8 \mu g/ml$. Currently, MIC breakpoints data for these antibiotics against *V. parahaemolyticus* are not available. However, similar MICs of other agents in the same groups were considered susceptible (i.e chloramphenicol, $\leq 8 \ \mu g/ml$; tetracycline, $\leq 4 \ \mu g/ml$; ciprofloxacin, $\leq 1 \ \mu g/ml$) (CLSI, 2006a). MICs of trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole (1:19) ranged from 1.2/0.06 to 38/2 $\mu g/ml$, which is still in the susceptible range. However, MBCs varied in wide range, and exceeded 304/16 $\mu g/ml$ for some isolates. The lowest MIC and MBC were obtained from enrofloxacin (MIC, MBC values ranging from 0.25-1 $\mu g/ml$).

2.2 Susceptibility to polyphenols

Among four polyphenols used in this study, syringic acid and rutin demonstrated lowest effects against *V. parahaemolyticus*. All of the isolates were able to grow even when they were exposed to these agents at concentrations >512 µg/ml. Higher concentrations of syringic acid and rutin (\geq 1024 µg/ml) resulted in coagulation of the substances in the solution. Therefore, susceptibility of *V. parahaemolyticus* to these agents at concentrations above 512 µg/ml was not determined.

Vanillic acid showed antibacterial effect on *V. parahaemolyticus*. MICs and MBCs of 1024-2048 µg/ml were able to inhibit 100% of the isolates. Pyrogallol showed the strongest activity against *V. parahaemolyticus*. MIC values of this substance were in the range of 32-256µg/ml. MBC of pyrogallol against all isolates was in the same range as MIC, but the percent of isolates in higher concentration was higher.

2.3 Comparison of susceptibility of AHPND and non-AHPND isolates

V. parahaemolyticus was divided to AHPND and non-AHPND groups, and their susceptibilities to antibiotics and polyphenols were shown in Tables 5 and 6. MIC range, MIC₅₀, and MIC₉₀ of antimicrobial agents to both *V. parahaemolyticus* groups were summarized in Table 7. Basing on MIC₉₀, we compared the susceptibility between two *V. parahaemolyticus* groups.

There were differences in MIC ranges of antimicrobials against AHPND and non-AHPND groups. Specifically, MIC ranges of ampicillin and amoxicillin against AHPND group were lower than those against non-AHPND group. MIC range of rutin and syringic acid was the same among AHPND and non-AHPND. MIC range of enrofloxacin against AHPND was higher than that of non-AHPND group. However, MIC₉₀ of these antimicrobials was not different between AHPND and non-AHPND groups.

Similarly, MIC ranges of other antimicrobials against AHPND and non-AHPND groups showed some differences. MIC ranges of oxolinic acid, oxytetracycline, trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole (1:19), and pyrogallol against AHPND group were lower than those against non-AHPND group. MIC ranges of florfenicol and vanillic acid against AHPND isolates was the same as those against non-AHPND isolates. Nevertheless, the results of MIC₉₀ showed that AHPND group was more sensitive to all of these antimicrobials than non-AHPND group.



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

istribution of MIC, MBC against 96 <i>V. parahaemolyticus</i> isolates	Antibiotics Polyphenols	Amoxicillin Enroftoxacin Oxolinic acid Florfenicol Oxytetracycline Sulfa/Trim* Pyrogallol Rutin Syringic acid Vanillic acid	MIC MBC		86.46 45.83	61.46 71.88 100 100 100 100	25.00 21.88	8.33 4.17 2.08 12.50	2.08 1.04 14.58 34.38	1.04 1.04 72.92 45.83	2.08 10.42 7.29	8.33	2.08	2.08 2.08 6.25 2.08 4.17 7.29	1.04 1.04 11.46 23.96 4.17 10.42 7.29	1.04 3.13 51.04 48.96 4.17 26.04 1.04 3.13	1.04 4.17 1.04 3.13 37.50 20.83 25.00 18.75 7.29 17.71	14.58 23.96 54.17 72.92 40.63 35.42 16.67 19.79	84.38 71.88 40.63 17.71 23.96 5.21 27.08 22.92	35.42 9.38	12.50 2.08
ution of I		oxicillin	MBC	I	ı	6 71.88	0 21.88	3 4.17	8 1.04	4 1.04	œ										
distribu		Amo	MIC	1	'	12 61.46	54 25.00)4 8.33	2.08	1.04	2.08										
Percent		Ampicillin	AIC MBC	1	1	3.33 85.4	5.63 13.5	1.0	1.04												
Table 4.	Conc		 (m/§µ)	2048	1024	>512 8.	512 1.	256	128	64	32	>16	16	80	4	2	1	0.5	0.25	0.12	0.06

(-) susceptibility is not determined at these concentrations

23

		ic acid	MBC	55.36	44.64																	
		Vanill	MIC	8.93	91.07																	
		gic acid	MBC	ŗ	ŗ	100																
	nenols	Syring	MIC	ī	ı	100																
	Polypł	tin	MBC	ı	ı	100																
		Ru	MIC	ī	ī	100																
		allol	MBC					5.36	42.86	44.64	7.14											
		Pyrog	MIC						7.14	83.93	8.93											
()		Trim*	MBC								T	1.79		10.71	8.93		16.07	28.57	25.00	5.36	3.57	
= 56		Sulfa/	MIC								ī						1.79	12.50	42.86	32.14	10.71	
icus (n		cycline	MBC											1.79	8.93	30.36	26.79	25.00	7.14	ī	1	
molyt		Oxytetra	MIC												3.57	3.57	32.14	42.86	17.86	ı	T	e (1:19)
ırahae		nicol	MBC											5.36	14.29	55.36	25.00			I	T	Joxazole
) V. pc		Florfei	MIC												7.14	57.14	35.71			I	T	ulfametł
AHPNC	otics	c acid	MBC													1.79	1.79	89.29	7.14	I	T	ioprim/sı
gainst ,	Antibio	Oxolinia	MIC													1.79		62.50	35.71	ı	T	ı trimeth
ABC ag		acin	MBC														5.36	23.21	71.43	ı	,	ioprim ir
MIC, N		Enroflo	MIC														1.79	14.29	83.93	ı	,	f trimeth
ion of		aillin	MBC	ī	ī	67.86	23.21	5.36	1.79	1.79												ations o
stribut		Amoxi	MIC	ī	ī	51.79	28.57	12.50	1.79	1.79	3.57											concenti
ent di		llin	MBC	ı	ı	75.00	23.21	1.79														IBC are (
. Perc		Ampici	MIC	ŗ	ŗ	71.43	26.79		1.79													*) MIC, N
Table 5	Conc		- (hug/tur)	2048	1024	>512	512	256	128	64	32	>16	16	Ø	4	2	1	0.5	0.25	0.12	0.06	Notes: (*

(-) susceptibility is not determined at these concentrations

24

		lic acid	MBC) 52.50) 47.50																	
		Vanil	MIC	20.00	80.00																	
		ic acid	MBC	I	ı	100																
	nenols	Syring	MIC	ı	ı	100																
	Polyph	in	MBC	I	ī	100																
		Rut	MIC	ı.	,	100																
		allol	MBC					22.50	22.50	47.50	7.50											
		Pyroga	MIC					2.50	27.50	57.50	12.50											
= 40)		_rim*	MBC								1	17.50	5.00	2.50	5.00	7.50	20.00	7.50	20.00	15.00		
: u) sr		Sulfa/1	MIC													2.50	15.00	22.50	5.00	40.00	15.00	
olyticı		cycline	MBC											7.50	12.50	20.00	7.50	50.00	2.50	T	I	
haem		Dxytetra	MIC											5.00	5.00	5.00	15.00	37.50	32.50	ı	I	(1:19)
/. parc		icol (MBC											7.50	37.50	40.00	15.00			I	I	oxazole
IPND V		Florfer	MIC												17.50	42.50	40.00			,	ı	lfameth
HNor	tics	acid	MBC											5.00	2.50	5.00	5.00	50.00	32.50	ı	I	oprim/su
ainst r	Antibio	Oxolinic	MIC											5.00	2.50		2.50	42.50	47.50	T	I	trimetho
BC ag		acin	MBC														2.50	25.00	72.50	T	I	oprim in
MIC, N		Enroflox	MIC															15.00	85.00	ı	I	trimeth
on of I		illin	MBC	ı	ŗ	77.50	20.00	2.50														ations of
tributi		Amoxid	MIC	ı	,	75.00	20.00	2.50	2.50													oncentra
ent dis		lin	MBC	T	ī	100																BC are c
Perce		Ampicil	MIC N	ı	ī	100																MIC, MI
Table 6.	Conc			2048	1024	>512	512	256	128	64	32	>16	16	80	4	2	1	0.5	0.25	0.12	0.06	Notes: (*)

25

(-) susceptibility is not determined at these concentrations

		VP (96)			AHPND (56)		Nor	-AHPND (40	
Antimicrobials	MIC Range	MIC50	MIC90	MIC Range	MIC50	MIC90	MIC Range	MIC50	MIC90
Ampicillin	128 - >512	>512	>512	128 - >512	>512	>512	>512	>512	>512
Amoxicillin	32 - >512	>512	>512	32 ->512	>512	>512	128 - >512	>512	>512
Enrofloxacin	0.25 - 1	0.25	0.5	0.25 - 1	0.25	0.5	0.25 - 0.5	0.25	0.5
Oxolinic acid	0.25 - 8	0.5	0.5	0.25 - 2	0.5	0.5	0.25 - 8	0.5	1
Florfenicol	1 - 4	2	4	1 - 4	2	2	1 - 4	2	4
Oxytetracycline	0.25 - 8	0.5	1	0.25 - 4	0.5	1	0.25 - 8	0.5	2
Trimethoprim/Sulfamethoxazole (1:19)*	0.06 - 2	0.25	0.5	0.06 - 1	0.25	0.5	0.06 - 2	0.12	1
Pyrogallol	32 - 256	64	128	32 - 128	64	64	32-256	64	128
Rutin	>512	>512	>512	>512	>512	>512	>512	>512	>512
Syringic acid	>512	>512	>512	>512	>512	>512	>512	>512	>512
Vanillic acid	1024 - 2048	1024	2048	1024 - 2048	1024	1024	1024 - 2048	1024	2048
Notes: (*) MIC MBC are concentrations	it trimethonim in	trim at honrin	/sulfamethe	(01.1) elocor					

groups	
ahaemolyticus	
of V. parc	
NDC ₉₀ d	
MIC ₅₀ ar	
Table 7.	

Notes: (*) MIC, MBC are concentrations of trimethoprim in trimethoprim/sultamethoxazole (1:19)

3. Time-kill curve of pyrogallol

Among four polyphenols, pyrogallol showed highest antibacterial effect on *V. parahaemolyticus* (lowest MIC, MBC values). MIC_{90} of this substance was 128 µg/ml. Therefore, bactericidal activity (time-kill curve) of this substance was investigated at 1x, 2x, and 4x MIC, with one isolate from each of AHPND and non-AHPND groups, which were inhibited at 128 µg/ml of pyrogallol.

In control experiment in which both bacterial isolates were exposed to water, the number of bacteria was increasing, from initial culture of approximately 5×10^5 CFU/ml to maximum of 10^{14} CFU/ml after 24h of incubation.

In experiment with AHPND isolate, after exposure to pyrogallol, the number of viable cells in the mixture was decreasing. All bacterial cells were killed at 12, 8, and 8 hours of incubation after being exposed to 1x, 2x, and 4x MIC of pyrogallol, respectively.

With regard to non-AHPND isolate, the changes in number of viable cells showed the same trend as of AHPND isolate. Cells started to die gradually when being in contact with pyrogallol. Pyrogallol was able to kill all non-AHPND cells in the mixture after 12, 12 and 8 hours of exposure to this agent at 1x, 2x, and 4x MC, respectively.



Figure 9. Time-kill curve of pyrogallol against AHPND V. parahaemolyticus



Figure 10. Time-kill curve of pyrogallol against non-AHPND V. parahaemolyticus

4. Effect of pyrogallol on bacterial cell

Scanning electron micrographs of *V. parahaemolyticus*, taken at 10,000x magnification, are shown in Figure 11. In control experiment where *V. parahaemolyticus* was not treated with pyrogallol, bacterial cells remained their normal morphology (Figure 11. A). Besides, the presence of tiny coccoid cells were still observable.

Micrograph of pyrogallol-treated cells showed disruption of the majority of bacterial cells (Figure 11. B). The disrupted cells and tiny coccoid cells are undistinguishable. In conducted experimental conditions (512 µg/ml of pyrogallol, 6 hours), a few cells remained intact, but prolonged exposure to pyrogallol, up to 8 hr, killed all bacterial cells.



Figure 11. Scanning electron micrographs of *V. parahaemolyticus*A. Cells in control (x10,000); B. Cells in control (x30,000); C. Cells treated with pyrogallol, 512 μg/ml, 6 hours (x10,000); D. Cells treated with pyrogallol, 512 μg/ml, 6 hours (x30,000)

CHAPTER V. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

1. Discussion

Although *V. parahaemolyticus* is a marine bacterial flora, its massive damages to shrimp culture have been recently emphasized (Flegel, 2012). In addition, this bacteria is a threat to human health which attracts attention of many scientists (Thongjun et al., 2013; Okoh et al., 2015). At ideal conditions, *V. parahaemolyticus* can duplicate every 8-9 minutes, which is the fastest replicating bacteria (Daniels et al., 2000). Thus, the bacteria can reach infectious dose in a few hours, even with a small starting number. The concentration of *V. parahaemolyticus* is high in sediment, compared to shrimp and water (de Jesus Hernandez-Diaz et al., 2015). In filter-feeder such as oysters and clams, *vibrios* concentrate in the gut where they can multiply (Okoh et al., 2015). Kongrueng and colleagues (2014) demonstrated that *V. parahaemolyticus* can be obtained more from intestines than from hepatopancreas. Therefore, investigation of AHPND *V. parahaemolyticus* in shrimp farms should be performed with shrimp intestine.

Vibrio species are susceptible to most antibiotics. For example, susceptibility of *Vibrio* isolates from United States with ampicillin, cefotaxime, ceftazidime, chloramphenicol, ciprofloxacin, gentamicin, imipenem, tetracycline revealed only ampicillin resistance (81%; MIC > 16 g/ml) (Han et al., 2007). Resistance to ampicillin and high susceptibility to most antibiotics tested were also detected in India, Italy, Malaysia, and Mexico (Ottaviani et al., 2013; Reyhanath and Kutty, 2014; Sahilah et al., 2014; de Jesus Hernandez-Diaz et al., 2015). In Thailand, *V. parahaemolyticus* was susceptible (MIC \leq 8 µg/ml) to chloramphenicol and florfenicol (Tipmongkolsilp et al., 2006). Susceptibility to these two antibiotics in our study showed similar results, suggesting that resistance to chloramphenicol group has not yet developed. A recent study showed that AHPND *V. parahaemolyticus* isolates were resistant to ampicillin and erythromycin, whereas they were susceptible to tetracycline, chloramphenicol, sulphamethoxazole/trimethoprim, gentamycin and norfloxacin (Kongrueng et al., 2014). In general, data on antimicrobial susceptibility of this bacterium are incomprehensive, and often limited to antibiotics used for treatment in human, which are not allowed for use in Thai aquaculture.

In this study, multi-drug resistance of *V. parahaemolyticus* was not detected. However, this phenomenon drastically elevated from 8.6% (2004-2010) to 22.93% (2011-2013; p < 0.05) in Mexico (de Jesus Hernandez-Diaz et al., 2015). In addition, multi-drug resistant strains were encountered more often from water samples than from shrimps in India (Reyhanath and Kutty, 2014). In China, more than half of *V. parahaemolyticus* isolates (n = 87) showed multi-drug resistance to at least 3 antibiotics, and mechanisms of which are related to the presence of resistance genes, and/or mutations in targeted genes (Jiang et al., 2014). Plasmid-mediated resistance genes in bacterial community are possible (Aedo et al., 2014).

Although many antibiotics showed high *in vitro* efficacy against bacteria in our study, new methods to control bacterial infections are still being investigated. Researches on beneficial bacteria for probiotic candidates showed potential application of *Bacillus* spp. in controlling vibriosis in mud crab (Wu et al., 2014). Bacteriophages were also examined for their ability to inhibit food and waterborne bacterial pathogens, including *V. parahaemolyticus* (Jun et al., 2014a; Jun et al., 2014b; Tskhvediani et al., 2014). Besides, screening for bioactive natural compounds were also done. Polyhydroxybutyrate biopolymer, produced by Gram-positive *Brevibacterium casei*, showed antiadhesive activity against *vibrios*, including *V. vulnificus*, *V. fischeri*, *V. parahaemolyticus*, *V. alginolyticus*, and *V. harveyi* (Kiran et al., 2014). The sponge belonging to genus *Haliclona* contained antimicrobial compounds which have notable effect on *V. parahaemolyticus* (Hoppers et al., 2015).

Researches on antimicrobial effects of polyphenols have been extensively conducted. For example, *V. parahaemolyticus* was tested with 18 plant species, some of which showed promising results (Yano et al., 2006). Most of these studies were conducted with crude extracts which often contain many different substances, including syringic acid and pyrogallol (Carvajal et al., 2012). Therefore, the role of active ingredients was unclear. In this study, we investigated the effect of pyrogallol, rutin, syringic and vanillic acid separately on *V. parahaemolyticus*, and only pyrogallol showed satisfying result.

The antimicrobial effects of polyphenols are often unpredictable and speciesspecific. When tested 10 polyphenols against with 4 different bacterial genera, the results showed no clear correlation between Gram-staining and bacterial susceptibility to polyphenols (Taguri et al., 2006). Methanol extract of *Vitex negundo* leaf (500 µg/mL) killed *V. cholerae* and *V. parahaemolyticus* after 1 hour, but not *V. mimicus* after 16 hours (Kamruzzaman et al., 2013). Pyrogallol previously showed protection against *V. harveyi* (Defoirdt et al., 2013). In this study, pyrogallol also demonstrated antimicrobial effect on *V. parahaemolyticus*. On the contrary, Hsieh and colleagues (2008) proved that rutin had inhibitory activity against *V. alginolyticus* when administered to *Litopenaeus vannamei* at 10 µg/ml, but in this study, could not inhibit the growth of *V. parahaemolyticus* even at 512 µg/ml.

Pyrogallol is the major substance in extract of many plant species (Gopi et al., 2015; Khatua et al., 2015). It is soluble in water, and can go through rapid autoxidation in the presence of oxygen, which subsequently produces peroxides and hydro peroxides (Marklund and Marklund, 1974). When observed under scanning electron microscope, pyrogallol-free treatment showed tiny coccoid cell sticking to intact *V. parahaemolyticus* cells, an interesting phenomenon called as formation of budding which was previously reported (Coutard et al., 2007). There was a massive cell disruption in pyrogallol-treated experiment. The bactericidal effect of pyrogallol was

attributed to peroxide production resulting from the autoxidation of the compound (Defoirdt et al., 2013).

2. Conclusions

Our study re-confirmed the presence of AHPND *V. parahaemolyticus* in the central and southern provinces of Thailand. Ampicillin and amoxicillin are not suitable for controlling *V. parahaemolyticus*. Other antibiotics including enrofloxacin, oxolinic acid, oxytetracycline, florfenicol, and trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole (1:19) showed high potency *in vitro* against *V. parahaemolyticus*, and may be effective for treating this bacterial pathogen in shrimp.

Three polyphenols, including rutin, syringic and vanillic acids showed low potency against *V. parahaemolyticus*. Due to bactericidal effect, pyrogallol is the most potential among the four polyphenols examined. Effect of pyrogallol is dose and time-dependent. It causes *V. parahaemolyticus* cell disruption at 512 µg/ml, and completely kill all cells after 8 hours.

3. Advantages of study

This study provides a collection of (AHPND and non-AHPND) *V. parahaemolyticus* isolates which can be used for further studies on this pathogen. In addition, antimicrobial susceptibility of both non-AHPND and emerging AHPND *V. parahaemolyticus* isolated from Pacific white shrimp (*Litopenaeus vannamei*) in central and southern parts of Thailand has been demonstrated. The present study also confirms the potential of polyphenols in controlling *V. parahaemolyticus*, and demonstrates the effect of pyrogallol on *V. parahaemolyticus* cell.

REFERENCES



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

- Aedo S, Ivanova L, Tomova A and Cabello FC. 2014. Plasmid-related quinolone resistance determinants in epidemic *Vibrio parahaemolyticus*, uropathogenic *Escherichia coli*, and marine bacteria from an aquaculture area in Chile. Microb Ecol. 68(2): 324-328.
- Ahmed AM, Rabii NS, Garbaj AM and Abolghait SK. 2014. Antibacterial effect of olive (*Olea europaea* L.) leaves extract in raw peeled undeveined shrimp (*Penaeus semisulcatus*). Int J Vet Sci Med. 2(1): 53-56.
- Aleksic V and Knezevic P. 2014. Antimicrobial and antioxidative activity of extracts and essential oils of *Myrtus communis* L. Microbiol Res. 169(4): 240-254.
- Alsina M and Blanch AR. 1994. A set of keys for biochemical identification of environmental *Vibrio* species. J Appl Bacteriol. 76(1): 79-85.
- Banerjee S, Ooi MC, Shariff M and Khatoon H. 2012. Antibiotic resistant *Salmonella* and *Vibrio* associated with farmed *Litopenaeus vannamei*. Sci World J. 2012: 130-136.
- Barker WH, Jr. and Gangarosa EJ. 1974. Food poisoning due to *Vibrio parahaemolyticus*. Annu Rev Med. 25: 75-81.
- Baross J and Liston J. 1970. Occurrence of *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* and related hemolytic *vibrios* in marine environments of Washington State. Appl Microbiol. 20(2): 179-186.
- Batista O, Duarte A, Nascimento J, Simoes MF, de la Torre MC and Rodriguez B. 1994. Structure and antimicrobial activity of diterpenes from the roots of *Plectranthus hereroensis*. J Nat Prod. 57(6): 858-861.
- Bisha B, Simonson J, Janes M, Bauman K and Goodridge LD. 2012. A review of the current status of cultural and rapid detection of *Vibrio parahaemolyticus*. Int J Food Sci Tech. 47(5): 885-899.
- Bockemuhl J and Triemer A. 1974. Ecology and epidemiology of *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* on the coast of Togo. Bull World Health Organ. 51(4): 353-360.
- Borris RP. 1996. Natural products research: perspectives from a major pharmaceutical company. J Ethnopharmacol. 51(1–3): 29-38.

- Bravo L. 1998. Polyphenols: chemistry, dietary sources, metabolism, and nutritional significance. Nutr Rev. 56(11): 317-333.
- Cabello FC. 2006. Heavy use of prophylactic antibiotics in aquaculture: a growing problem for human and animal health and for the environment. Environ Microbiol. 8(7): 1137-1144.
- Campos FM, Couto JA, Figueiredo AR, Toth IV, Rangel AO and Hogg TA. 2009. Cell membrane damage induced by phenolic acids on wine lactic acid bacteria. Int J Food Microbiol. 135(2): 144-151.
- Carvajal AESS, Koehnlein EA, Soares AA, Eler GJ, Nakashima ATA, Bracht A and Peralta RM. 2012. Bioactives of fruiting bodies and submerged culture mycelia of *Agaricus brasiliensis (A. blazei*) and their antioxidant properties. LWT - Food Sci Technol. 46(2): 493-499.
- Chatterjee BD, Neogy KN and Chowdhury BR. 1970. Drug-sensitivity of *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* isolated in Calcutta during 1969. Bull World Health Organ. 42(4): 640-641.
- Cheema S and Sommerhalter M. 2015. Characterization of polyphenol oxidase activity in *Ataulfo mango*. Food Chem. 171: 382-387.
- Citarasu T. 2012. 16 Natural antimicrobial compounds for use in aquaculture. In: Infectious Disease in Aquaculture. ed. Austin Brian (ed.). Woodhead Publishing. 419-456.
- Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute. 2006a. Methods for antimicrobial dilution and disk susceptibility testing of infrequently isolated or fastidious bacteria. Approved standard (M45-A). Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute, Wayne, PA. 56pp.
- Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute. 2006b. Methods for broth dilution susceptibility testing of bacteria isolated from auatic animals. Approved guidline (M49-A). Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute, Wayne, PA. 60pp.
- Coutard F, Crassous P, Droguet M, Gobin E, Colwell RR, Pommepuy M and Hervio-Heath D. 2007. Recovery in culture of viable but nonculturable *Vibrio parahaemolyticus*: regrowth or resuscitation? ISME J. 1(2): 111-120.

- Croci L, Suffredini E, Cozzi L, Toti L, Ottaviani D, Pruzzo C, Serratore P, Fischetti R, Goffredo E, Loffredo G, Mioni R and *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* Working G. 2007. Comparison of different biochemical and molecular methods for the identification of *Vibrio parahaemolyticus*. J Appl Microbiol. 102(1): 229-237.
- Daglia M. 2012. Polyphenols as antimicrobial agents. Curr Opin Biotechnol. 23(2): 174-181.
- Daniels NA, Ray B, Easton A and et al. 2000. Emergence of a new *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* serotype in raw oysters: A prevention quandary. JAMA. 284(12): 1541-1545.
- de Jesus Hernandez-Diaz L, Leon-Sicairos N, Velazquez-Roman J, Flores-Villasenor H, Guadron-Llanos AM, Martinez-Garcia JJ, Vidal JE and Canizalez-Roman A. 2015. A pandemic *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* O3:K6 clone causing most associated diarrhea cases in the Pacific Northwest coast of Mexico. Front Microbiol. 6: 221-232.
- de Melo LM, Almeida D, Hofer E, Dos Reis CM, Theophilo GN, Santos AF and Vieira RH. 2011. Antibiotic resistance of *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* isolated from pondreared *Litopenaeus vannamei* marketed in Natal, Brazil. Braz J Microbiol. 42(4): 1463-1469.
- De Schryver P, Defoirdt T and Sorgeloos P. 2014. Early mortality syndrome outbreaks: a microbial management issue in shrimp farming? PLoS Pathog. 10(4). e1003919.
- Defoirdt T, Pande GS, Baruah K and Bossier P. 2013. The apparent quorum-sensing inhibitory activity of pyrogallol is a side effect of peroxide production. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 57(6): 2870-2873.
- Defoirdt T, Sorgeloos P and Bossier P. 2011. Alternatives to antibiotics for the control of bacterial disease in aquaculture. Curr Opin Microbiol. 14(3): 251-258.
- Di Cesare A, Luna GM, Vignaroli C, Pasquaroli S, Tota S, Paroncini P and Biavasco F. 2013. Aquaculture can promote the presence and spread of antibiotic-resistant *Enterococci* in marine sediments. PLoS ONE. 8(4). e62838.
- Flegel TW. 2012. Historic emergence, impact and current status of shrimp pathogens in Asia. J Invertebr Pathol. 110(2): 166-173.

- Fratianni F, Coppola R and Nazzaro F. 2011. Phenolic composition and antimicrobial and antiquorum sensing activity of an ethanolic extract of peels from the apple cultivar Annurca. J Med Food. 14(9): 957-963.
- Gálvez M, Barroso C and Pérez-Bustamante J. 1994. Analysis of polyphenolic compounds of different vinegar samples. Eur Food Res Technol. 199(1): 29-31.
- Gao P, Mao D, Luo Y, Wang L, Xu B and Xu L. 2012. Occurrence of sulfonamide and tetracycline-resistant bacteria and resistance genes in aquaculture environment. Water Res. 46(7): 2355-2364.
- Gomez-Gil B, Soto-Rodriguez S, Lozano R and Betancourt-Lozano M. 2014. Draft genome sequence of *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* strain M0605, which causes severe mortalities of shrimps in Mexico . Genome Announc. 2(2). e00055-14.
- Gomez-Jimenez S, Noriega-Orozco L, Sotelo-Mundo RR, Cantu-Robles VA, Cobian-Guemes AG, Cota-Verdugo RG, Gamez-Alejo LA, Del Pozo-Yauner L, Guevara-Hernandez E, Garcia-Orozco KD, Lopez-Zavala AA and Ochoa-Leyva A. 2014. High-quality draft genomes of two *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* strains aid in understanding acute hepatopancreatic necrosis disease of cultured shrimps in Mexico. Genome Announc. 2(4). e00800-14.
- Gopi K, Renu K, Sannanaik Vishwanath B and Jayaraman G. 2015. Protective effect of *Euphorbia hirta* and its components against snake venom induced lethality. J Ethnopharmacol. 165: 180-190.
- Gräslund S and Bengtsson B-E. 2001. Chemicals and biological products used in southeast Asian shrimp farming, and their potential impact on the environment — a review. Sci Total Environ. 280(1–3): 93-131.
- Han F, Walker RD, Janes ME, Prinyawiwatkul W and Ge B. 2007. Antimicrobial susceptibilities of *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* and *Vibrio vulnificus* isolates from Louisiana Gulf and retail raw oysters. Appl Environ Microbiol. 73(21): 7096-7098.
- He X, Wang Z, Nie X, Yang Y, Pan D, Leung AO, Cheng Z, Yang Y, Li K and Chen K. 2012. Residues of fluoroquinolones in marine aquaculture environment of the Pearl River Delta, South China. Environ Geochem Health. 34(3): 323-335.

- Holmström K, Gräslund S, Wahlström A, Poungshompoo S, Bengtsson B-E and Kautsky N. 2003. Antibiotic use in shrimp farming and implications for environmental impacts and human health. Int J Food Sci Tech. 38(3): 255-266.
- Hoppers A, Stoudenmire J, Wu S and Lopanik NB. 2015. Antibiotic activity and microbial community of the temperate sponge, *Haliclona* sp. J Appl Microbiol. 118(2): 419-430.
- Hsieh SL, Wu CC, Liu CH and Lian JL. 2013. Effects of the water extract of *Gynura bicolor* (Roxb. & Willd.) DC on physiological and immune responses to *Vibrio alginolyticus* infection in white shrimp (*Litopenaeus vannamei*). Fish Shellfish Immunol. 35(1): 18-25.
- Hsieh T-J, Wang J-C, Hu C-Y, Li C-T, Kuo C-M and Hsieh S-L. 2008. Effects of Rutin from *Toona sinensis* on the immune and physiological responses of white shrimp (*Litopenaeus vannamei*) under *Vibrio alginolyticus* challenge. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 25(5): 581-588.
- Hua LM and Apun K. 2013. Antimicrobial susceptibilities of *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* Isolates from tiger shrimps (*Penaeus monodon*) aquaculture in Kuching, Sarawak. Res J Microb. 8(1). 55-62
- Itoh A, Isoda K, Kondoh M, Kawase M, Kobayashi M, Tamesada M and Yagi K. 2009. Hepatoprotective effect of syringic acid and vanillic acid on concanavalin ainduced liver injury. Biol Pharm Bull. 32(7): 1215-1219.
- Jiang Y, Yao L, Li F, Tan Z, Zhai Y and Wang L. 2014. Characterization of antimicrobial resistance of *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* from cultured sea cucumbers (*Apostichopus japonicas*). Lett Appl Microbiol. 59: 147-154
- Joshi J, Srisala J, Truong VH, Chen IT, Nuangsaeng B, Suthienkul O, Lo CF, Flegel TW, Sritunyalucksana K and Thitamadee S. 2014. Variation in *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* isolates from a single Thai shrimp farm experiencing an outbreak of acute hepatopancreatic necrosis disease (AHPND). Aquaculture. 428–429(0): 297-302.
- Jun JW, Kim HJ, Yun SK, Chai JY and Park SC. 2014a. Eating oysters without risk of vibriosis: application of a bacteriophage against *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* in oysters. Int J Food Microbiol. 188: 31-35.

- Jun JW, Shin TH, Kim JH, Shin SP, Han JE, Heo GJ, De Zoysa M, Shin GW, Chai JY and Park SC. 2014b. Bacteriophage therapy of a *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* infection caused by a multiple-antibiotic-resistant O3:K6 pandemic clinical strain. J Infect Dis. 210(1): 72-78.
- Kalinowska M, Bielawska A, Lewandowska-Siwkiewicz H, Priebe W and Lewandowski W. 2014. Apples: Content of phenolic compounds vs. variety, part of apple and cultivation model, extraction of phenolic compounds, biological properties. Plant Physiol Biochem. 84c: 169-188.
- Kampelmacher EH, Mossel DA, Van Noorle Jansen LM and Vincentie H. 1970. A survey on the occurrence of *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* on fish and shellfish, marketed in the Netherlands. J Hyg (Lond). 68(2): 189-196.
- Kamruzzaman M, Bari SM and Faruque SM. 2013. In vitro and in vivo bactericidal activity of *Vitex negundo* leaf extract against diverse multidrug resistant enteric bacterial pathogens. Asian Pac J Trop Med. 6(5): 352-359.
- Kaneko T and Colwell RR. 1973. Ecology of *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* in Chesapeake Bay. J Bacteriol. 113(1): 24-32.
- Karimi E, Oskoueian E, Hendra R, Oskoueian A and Jaafar HZ. 2012. Phenolic compounds characterization and biological activities of *Citrus aurantium* bloom. Molecules. 17(2): 1203-1218.
- Kawai M and Yamagishi J. 2009. Mechanisms of action of acriflavine: electron microscopic study of cell wall changes induced in *Staphylococcus aureus* by acriflavine. Microbiol Immunol. 53(9): 481-486.
- Khatua S, Dutta AK and Acharya K. 2015. Prospecting *Russula senecis*: a delicacy among the tribes of West Bengal. PeerJ. 3. e810.
- Khouadja S, Suffredini E, Baccouche B, Croci L and Bakhrouf A. 2014. Occurrence of virulence genes among *Vibrio cholerae* and *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* strains from treated wastewaters. Environ Monit Assess. 186(10): 6935-6945.
- Kim YB, Okuda J, Matsumoto C, Takahashi N, Hashimoto S and Nishibuchi M. 1999. Identification of *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* strains at the species level by PCR targeted to the *toxR* gene. J Clin Microbiol. 37(4): 1173-1177.

- Kiran GS, Lipton AN, Priyadharshini S, Anitha K, Suarez LE, Arasu MV, Choi KC, Selvin J and Al-Dhabi NA. 2014. Antiadhesive activity of poly-hydroxy butyrate biopolymer from a marine *Brevibacterium casei* MSI04 against shrimp pathogenic vibrios. Microb Cell Fact. 13: 114.
- Kondo H, Tinwongger S, Proespraiwong P, Mavichak R, Unajak S, Nozaki R and Hirono I. 2014. Draft genome sequences of six strains of *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* isolated from early mortality syndrome/acute hepatopancreatic necrosis disease shrimp in Thailand. Genome Announc. 2(2). e00221-14.
- Kongrueng J, Yingkajorn M, Bunpa S, Sermwittayawong N, Singkhamanan K and Vuddhakul V. 2014. Characterization of *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* causing acute hepatopancreatic necrosis disease in southern Thailand. J Fish Dis. 1-10.
- Le TX, Munekage Y and Kato S. 2005. Antibiotic resistance in bacteria from shrimp farming in mangrove areas. Sci Total Environ. 349(1-3): 95-105.
- Marklund S and Marklund G. 1974. Involvement of the superoxide anion radical in the autoxidation of pyrogallol and a convenient assay for superoxide dismutase. Eur J Biochem. 47(3): 469-474.
- Miyamoto Y, Kato T, Obara Y, Akiyama S, Takizawa K and Yamai S. 1969. *In vitro* hemolytic characteristic of *Vibrio parahaemolyticus*: its close correlation with human pathogenicity. J Bacteriol. 100(2): 1147-1149.
- Molenda JR, Johnson WG, Fishbein M, Wentz B, Mehlman IJ and Dadisman TA, Jr. 1972. *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* gastroenteritis in Maryland: laboratory aspects. Appl Microbiol. 24(3): 444-448.
- Nagayama K, Iwamura Y, Shibata T, Hirayama I and Nakamura T. 2002. Bactericidal activity of phlorotannins from the brown alga *Ecklonia kurome*. J Antimicrob Chemother. 50(6): 889-893.
- Nowacka N, Nowak R, Drozd M, Olech M, Los R and Malm A. 2014. Analysis of phenolic constituents, antiradical and antimicrobial activity of edible mushrooms growing wild in Poland. LWT Food Sci Technol. 59(2, Part 1): 689-694.
- Nunan L, Lightner D, Pantoja C and Gomez-Jimenez S. 2014. Detection of acute hepatopancreatic necrosis disease (AHPND) in Mexico. Dis Aquat Organ. 111(1): 81-86.

- Oboh G, Isaac AT, Akinyemi AJ and Ajani RA. 2014. Inhibition of key enzymes linked to type 2 diabetes and sodium nitroprusside induced lipid peroxidation in rats' pancreas by phenolic extracts of avocado pear leaves and fruit. Int J Biomed Sci. 10(3): 208-216.
- Okoh AI, Sibanda T, Nongogo V, Adefisoye M, Olayemi OO and Nontongana N. 2015. Prevalence and characterisation of non-cholerae *Vibrio* spp. in final effluents of wastewater treatment facilities in two districts of the Eastern Cape Province of South Africa: implications for public health. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int. 22(3): 2008-2017.
- Ottaviani D, Leoni F, Talevi G, Masini L, Santarelli S, Rocchegiani E, Susini F, Montagna C, Monno R, D'Annibale L, Manso E, Oliva M and Pazzani C. 2013. Extensive investigation of antimicrobial resistance in *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* from shellfish and clinical sources, Italy. International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents. 42(2): 191-193.
- Pacheco-Palencia LA, Mertens-Talcott S and Talcott ST. 2008. Chemical composition, antioxidant properties, and thermal stability of a phytochemical enriched oil from Acai (*Euterpe oleracea* Mart.). J Agric Food Chem. 56(12): 4631-4636.
- Peffers AS, Bailey J, Barrow GI and Gobbs BC. 1973. *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* gastroenteritis and international air travel. Lancet. 1(7795): 143-145.
- Perumal Samy R and Gopalakrishnakone P. 2010. Therapeutic potential of plants as anti-microbials for drug discovery. Evid-based Comp Alt Med. 7(3): 283-294.
- Pirarat N, Rodkhum C, Ponpornpisit A and Suthikrai W. 2013. *In vitro* efficacy of red kwao krua (*Butea superba* Roxb.) extract against streptococcal bacteria isolated from diseased tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). Thai J Vet Med. 42(1): 101-105.
- Prasad VGNV, Krishna BV, Swamy PL, Rao TS and Rao GS. 2014. Antibacterial synergy between quercetin and polyphenolic acids against bacterial pathogens of fish. Asian Pac J Trop Med. 4, Supplement 1(0): S326-S329.
- Primavera JH, Lavilla-Pitogo CR, Ladja JM and Dela Peña MR. 1993. A survey of chemical and biological products used in intensive prawn farms in the Philippines. Mar Pollut Bull. 26(1): 35-40.

- Punam V. 2007. Methods for Determining Bactericidal Activity and Antimicrobial Interactions. In: Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing Protocols. ed. (ed.). CRC Press. 275-298.
- Reyhanath PV and Kutty R. 2014. Incidence of multidrug resistant *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* isolated from Ponnani, South India. Iran J Microbiol. 6(2): 60-67.
- Rico A, Phu TM, Satapornvanit K, Min J, Shahabuddin AM, Henriksson PJG, Murray FJ, Little DC, Dalsgaard A and Van den Brink PJ. 2013. Use of veterinary medicines, feed additives and probiotics in four major internationally traded aquaculture species farmed in Asia. Aquaculture. 412–413(0): 231-243.
- Robert-Pillot A, Copin S, Himber C, Gay M and Quilici ML. 2014. Occurrence of the three major *Vibrio* species pathogenic for human in seafood products consumed in France using real-time PCR. Int J Food Microbiol. 189: 75-81.
- Rocha Rdos S, Leite LO, de Sousa OV and Vieira RH. 2014. Antimicrobial susceptibility of *Escherichia coli* isolated from fresh-marketed Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). J Pathog. 2014. e756539-5
- Roland FP. 1970. Leg gangrene and endotoxin shock due to Vibrio parahaemolyticus
 an infection acquired in New England coastal waters. N Engl J Med. 282(23): 1306-1306.
- Sahilah AM, Laila RA, Sallehuddin HM, Osman H, Aminah A and Ahmad Azuhairi A. 2014. Antibiotic resistance and molecular typing among cockle (*Anadara granosa*) strains of *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* by polymerase chain reaction (PCR)-based analysis. World J Microbiol Biotechnol. 30(2): 649-659.
- Sakurai J, Matsuzaki A, Takeda Y and Miwatani T. 1974. Existence of two distinct hemolysins in *Vibrio parahaemolyticus*. Infect Immun. 9(5): 777-780.
- Sanyal SC, Sil J and Sakazaki R. 1973. Laboratory infection by *Vibrio parahaemolyticus*. J Med Microbiol. 6(1): 121-122.
- Shah SQ, Cabello FC, L'Abee-Lund TM, Tomova A, Godfrey HP, Buschmann AH and Sorum H. 2014. Antimicrobial resistance and antimicrobial resistance genes in marine bacteria from salmon aquaculture and non-aquaculture sites. Environ Microbiol. 16(5): 1310-1320.

- Shan B, Cai Y-Z, Brooks JD and Corke H. 2007. The *in vitro* antibacterial activity of dietary spice and medicinal herb extracts. Int J Food Microbiol. 117(1): 112-119.
- Shaw KS, Rosenberg Goldstein RE, He X, Jacobs JM, Crump BC and Sapkota AR. 2014. Antimicrobial susceptibility of *Vibrio vulnificus* and *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* recovered from recreational and commercial areas of Chesapeake Bay and Maryland Coastal Bays. PLoS One. 9(2).
- Sirikharin R., Taengchaiyaphum S., Sritunyalucksana K., Thitamadee S., Flegel T., Mavichak R. and Proespraiwong P. 2014. A new and improved PCR method for detection of AHPND bacteria. Accessed September 12, 2014. [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.enaca.org/modules/news/article.php?article_id=2030</u>.
- Sriurairatana S, Boonyawiwat V, Gangnonngiw W, Laosutthipong C, Hiranchan J and Flegel TW. 2014. White feces syndrome of shrimp arises from transformation, sloughing and aggregation of hepatopancreatic microvilli into vermiform bodies superficially resembling gregarines. PLoS One. 9(6). e99170.
- Taguri T, Tanaka T and Kouno I. 2004. Antimicrobial activity of 10 different plant polyphenols against bacteria causing food-borne disease. Biol Pharm Bull. 27(12): 1965-1969.
- Taguri T, Tanaka T and Kouno I. 2006. Antibacterial spectrum of plant polyphenols and extracts depending upon hydroxyphenyl structure. Biol Pharm Bull. 29(11): 2226-2235.
- Takasu H, Suzuki S, Reungsang A and Pham HV. 2011. Fluoroquinolone (FQ) contamination does not correlate with occurrence of FQ-resistant bacteria in aquatic environments of Vietnam and Thailand. Microbes Environ. 26(2): 135-143.
- Thongjun J, Mittraparp-arthorn P, Yingkajorn M, Kongreung J, Nishibuchi M and Vuddhakul V. 2013. The trend of *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* infections in southern Thailand from 2006 to 2010. Tropical Medicine and Health. 41(4): 151-156.
- Tipmongkolsilp N, Limpanon Y, Patamalai B, Lusanandana P and Wongtavatchai J. 2006. Oral medication with florfenicol for black tiger shrimps *Penaeus monodon*. Thai J Vet Med. 36(2): 39-47

- Tran L, Nunan L, Redman RM, Mohney LL, Pantoja CR, Fitzsimmons K and Lightner DV. 2013. Determination of the infectious nature of the agent of acute hepatopancreatic necrosis syndrome affecting penaeid shrimp. Dis Aquat Organ. 105(1): 45-55.
- Tskhvediani A, Khukhunashvili T, Eliashvili T, Tsertsvadze G, Gachechiladze N and Tediashvili M. 2014. The possible use of *V. parahaemolyticus* - specific bacteriophages for prevention and therapy of infections caused by *V. parahaemolyticus*. Georgian Med News. (231): 82-88.
- Vijaya K, Ananthan S and Nalini R. 1995. Antibacterial effect of theaflavin, polyphenon 60 (*Camellia sinensis*) and *Euphorbia hirta* on *Shigella* spp.--a cell culture study. J Ethnopharmacol. 49(2): 115-118.
- Wu CC, Liu CH, Chang YP and Hsieh SL. 2010. Effects of hot-water extract of *Toona* sinensis on immune response and resistance to *Aeromonas hydrophila* in *Oreochromis mossambicus*. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 29(2): 258-263.
- Wu H-J, Sun L-B, Li C-B, Li Z-Z, Zhang Z, Wen X-B, Hu Z, Zhang Y-L and Li S-K. 2014. Enhancement of the immune response and protection against *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* by indigenous probiotic *Bacillus* strains in mud crab (*Scylla paramamosain*). Fish Shellfish Immunol. 41(2): 156-162.
- Yang YT, Chen IT, Lee CT, Chen CY, Lin SS, Hor LI, Tseng TC, Huang YT, Sritunyalucksana K, Thitamadee S, Wang HC and Lo CF. 2014. Draft genome sequences of four strains of *Vibrio parahaemolyticus*, three of which cause early mortality syndrome/acute hepatopancreatic necrosis disease in shrimp in China and Thailand. Genome Announc. 2(5). e00816-14.
- Yano Y, Satomi M and Oikawa H. 2006. Antimicrobial effect of spices and herbs on *Vibrio parahaemolyticus*. Int J Food Microbiol. 111(1): 6-11.
- Yoshida T, Hatano T and Ito H. 2000. Chemistry and function of vegetable polyphenols with high molecular weights. Biofactors. 13(1-4): 121-125.
- Zen-Yoji H, Sakai S, Terayama T, Kudo Y, Ito T, Benoki M and Nagasaki M. 1965. Epidemiology, enteropathogenicity, and classification of *Vibrio parahaemolyticus*. J Infect Dis. 115(5): 436-444.

Zong H, Ma D, Wang J and Hu J. 2010. Research on florfenicol residue in coastal area of Dalian (northern China) and analysis of functional diversity of the microbial community in marine sediment. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol. 84(2): 245-249.



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

APPENDIX

Appendix 1. Acceptable quality control ranges of MICs (μ g/ml) for *Escherichia coli* ATCC 25922 when tested at 28 ± 2°C after 24 to 28 hours (CLSI, 2006)

Antimicrobial agent	Escherichia coli ATCC 25922
Ampicillin	2 - 16
Enrofloxacin	0.008 - 0.03
Florfenicol	4 - 16
Oxolinic acid	0.06 – 0.025
Oxytetracycline	0.5 – 2
Trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole (1:19)	0.03/0.6 – 0.25/4.8
// // %?/24/2/28	



VITA

Tran Huu TINH was born in Can Tho City, Vietnam, on April 3rd, 1990. After finishing high-school in 2008, he continued his 5-year Bachelor degree in Advanced Program in Aquaculture, a Vietnam-America collaborative program, in Faculty of Fisheries and Aquaculture, Can Tho University. In June 2013, he got a scholarship to study Master of Science in Faculty of Veterinary Science, Chulalongkorn University, Thailand.



จุฬาลงกรณีมหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University